Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-12-2018

Rome v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45140

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Sonny Rome contends the district court erred in denying his post-conviction petition. As an initial matter, he contends the district court's conclusion – that it had not been requested to take judicial notice of documents in the underlying criminal case file – is clearly erroneous, as he made written requests to that point on several occasions. That is particularly problematic because the record is not clear as to whether the district court was relying, at least in part, on its memory of the underlying criminal case in denying Mr. Rome's claims.

The district court's ruling on the merits of his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting a viable lesser-included instruction is similarly erroneous. Its first reason – that there was no evidence or legal basis showing the court would have granted trial counsel's request to give the lesser-included instruction – ignored trial counsel's unrefuted testimony at the evidentiary hearing. As a result, the district court failed to properly apply the preponderance-of-the-evidence standard in reaching its decision.

The district court's other reason for denying that claim – that there was no prejudice because the jury convicted Mr. Rome on the greater offense – is, as two federal circuit have held, directly contrary to several United States Supreme Court decisions. Thus, its holding should be reversed, and, to the extent the district court's decision on the prejudice prong was dictated by Idaho Supreme Court precedent, that precedent should be overruled as it is manifestly wrong, unjust, unwise, and contrary to the plain, obvious principles of law.

For all those reasons, this Court should reverse the district court's decision to deny Mr. Rome's post-conviction petition and remand this case for further proceedings.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

In the underlying criminal case, Mr. Rome was charged with aiding and abetting a burglary by agreeing to drive a vehicle to a store to facilitate a theft from that store. *State v. Rome*, 160 Idaho 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2016). In his post-conviction petition, Mr. Rome represented the relevant facts were as follows: he had gone with a woman to Walmart, she had gone into the store, taken a vacuum, gotten into Mr. Rome's truck, showed him a receipt purportedly for the vacuum, and Mr. Rome had driven away from the store.¹ (R., pp.25, 29; *see also* Exhibits, pp.4-5 (Mr. Rome's testimony at the jury trial to this same effect).)²

His trial attorney, Jay Logsdon, subsequently testified that he could have, but did not, request the jury be instructed on the lesser-included offense of accessory-after-the-fact. (Tr., p.21, L.20 - p.22, L.3.) The jury convicted Mr. Rome as charged, and he was sentenced to a unified term of twelve years, with four years fixed. *See Rome*, 160 Idaho at 42. He appealed, and trial counsel represented him during that appeal. *See generally id*. The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of conviction. *Id*. at 46.

¹ On multiple occasions, Mr. Rome requested the district court take judicial notice of the transcripts and record from the underlying criminal cases, including the record prepared for the direct appeal, and proffered those documents as exhibits to one of his briefs. (R., pp.49-50, 80, 85, 88.) Nevertheless, while discussing its decision to deny Mr. Rome's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not making certain arguments on the direct appeal, the district court stated that there had been no formal motion for it to take judicial notice, and so, "I never made the decision to take judicial notice of any certain proceedings." (Tr., p.75, L.18 - p.76, L.3.) Nevertheless, it referred to the facts of the underlying criminal case in making its decision. (*See generally* Tr., pp.64-78.)

Unless otherwise noted, all references to "Tr." in this brief refer to the volume containing the transcript of the evidentiary hearing held on February 22, 2017.

² "Exhibits" refers to electronic document Exhibits.pdf, which contains several excerpts from the transcript of the jury trial which were admitted during the evidentiary hearing on his post-conviction petition. Page numbers refer to the pdf page number.

Mr. Rome subsequently filed a *pro se* petition for post-conviction relief. (R., pp.5-8.) He asserted, *inter alia*, that his trial attorney was ineffective for not requesting a proper instruction regarding the elements of aiding and abetting. (R., pp.31-32.) He was appointed post-conviction counsel and, in response to the State's motion for summary judgment, he clarified that his sixth claim of error was that his trial attorney could have, but did not, argue that he was only an accessory after the fact, and that, had counsel requested proper instructions, there was a reasonable possibility the jury's verdict would have been different. (R., pp.62-63.) The district court denied the State's motion for summary dismissal on procedural grounds and set the case for an evidentiary hearing. (*See generally* 1/27/17 Tr.)

The district court treated the briefs both parties had filed in regard to the motion for summary dismissal as "trial briefing" in preparation for the evidentiary hearing. (1/27/17 Tr., p.9, Ls.1-10.) Mr. Rome's brief expressly requested the district court take judicial notice of various documents from the underlying criminal case file, and both parties referred to the facts from the underlying case in that briefing. (R., pp.49-50; *see generally*, R., pp.40-45, 48-68, 92-99.) Additionally, Mr. Rome filed a proposed finding of fact and conclusions of law based on the anticipated evidence, including that, had an accessory instruction been requested, it would have been given, and that the jury probably would have considered it. (R., p.96.) Consistent with the anticipated evidence, Mr. Rome's trial attorney testified at the hearing that there was a reasonable basis upon which he could have, but did not, requested an accessory instruction, but he had not recognized that fact at the time of the trial. (Tr., p.21, L.20 - p.22, L.3.)

After Mr. Rome rested, the State moved for "a directed verdict," essentially arguing that Mr. Rome had failed to meet his burden of proof. (Tr., p.47, Ls.8-17.) For example, the prosecutor simply argued: "With regard to Claim 6, the aiding and abetting. I don't believe

there's any evidence with regards to aiding and abetting. I don't recall any testimony with regards to that." (Tr., p.52, Ls.10-13.)

In response, post-conviction counsel argued that the facts showed there was a question about when and how Mr. Rome had been involved in the alleged crime. (Tr., p.58, Ls.20 - p.59, L.2.) Given that question, he argued that an accessory instruction would have been a proper under a pleading theory. (Tr., p.59, Ls.3-7.) Finally, he argued the approach which Idaho's courts have used in regard to the failure to give a lesser-included instruction – that, because a conviction was entered on the greater charge, the failure to give a lesser-included instruction was moot – was improper, since it meant the failure to request or give a proper lesser-included instruction "will for[ever] evade review." (Tr., p.59, Ls.16-25.)

The district court granted the State's motion for directed verdict. (Tr., p.64, Ls.15-16.) While it gave oral explanations for its ruling on most of Mr. Rome's claims, the district court's reasoning on the lesser-included instruction claim was only provided in a subsequent written order. (*See* R., pp.102-03; *see generally* Tr., pp.64-78.) Specifically, the district court concluded that, even if trial counsel had requested the accessory instruction, there was no evidence or basis in law indicating that the judge would have given it. (R. p.102.) Further, "even if the trial counsel had successfully obtained a jury instruction on Accessory, the outcome would not have been different because the trial jury unanimously found that the State had proved the charged offense of Burglary beyond a reasonable doubt." (R., pp.102-03.)

Mr. Rome filed a notice of appeal timely from the final judgment. (See R., pp.109, 121.)

<u>ISSUES</u>

- I. Whether the district court erred by not taking judicial notice of the documents in the underlying criminal case record as requested by Mr. Rome based on its clearly erroneous determination that he had not requested it take judicial notice.
- II. Whether the district court's decision to deny Mr. Rome's lesser-included instruction claim fails to apply the proper standards for evaluating a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at an evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Erred By Not Taking Judicial Notice Of The Documents In The Underlying
Criminal Case Record As Requested By Mr. Rome Based On Its Clearly Erroneous
Determination That He Had Not Requested It Take Judicial Notice

The district court is required to take judicial notice of documents from its records and transcripts when a party makes an oral or written request for it to do so. I.R.E. 201(d). The district court refused to take judicial notice of the documents from the underlying criminal case based its determination that "the Court has not been asked to take judicial notice, at least a formal motion hasn't been made, I haven't been asked to make that determination." (Tr., p.75, Ls.18-21.) That determination is clearly erroneous because it is not supported by substantial or competent evidence. *See Lovitt v. Robideaux*, 139 Idaho 322, 325 (2003) (explaining a conclusion is clearly erroneous when it is not supported by substantial or competent evidence). In fact, it is flatly contradicted by the record, which reveals Mr. Rome expressly requested it take judicial notice of those documents on at least four different occasions. (R., pp.49-50, 80, 85, 88.) In fact, he even represented that he had proffered copies of those documents to the district court and opposing counsel. (R., p.49.) Therefore, the district court erred by not taking judicial notice of the documents from the underlying criminal case pursuant to Mr. Rome's repeated requests.

That error is particularly problematic in this case because the district court referred to various facts about the underlying criminal case in ruling on Mr. Rome's claims and it is not clear if it was drawing those facts from the post-conviction record or from its memory of the underlying criminal case. (*See generally* Tr., p.64, L.5 - p.78, L.5.) For example, in denying Mr. Rome's claim that counsel was ineffective for not presenting certain mitigating evidence at sentencing, the district court concluded: "had the Court heard that evidence the sentence would

have been exactly the same anyway. That [mitigating evidence] would not have at all outweighed the fact of his history of previous felony convictions, and the history being a long one, and that this Court felt that it needed to protect society from thefts by Mr. Rome with the sentence it gave." (Tr., p.75, Ls.5-13.)

The fact that Mr. Rome had prior convictions which were being used to prove a habitual offender enhance was discussed in the excerpts from the trial transcript admitted during the evidentiary hearing. (See, e.g., Exhibits, p.15.) However, the sentencing hearing transcript was not similarly admitted. (See generally Exhibits.) As a result, there are no facts in the post-conviction record speaking to exactly how long Mr. Rome's prior record was, or the factors weighing for and against the need to protect society with the sentence imposed. (See generally Exhibits.) Thus, it appears the district court's decision on that issue was based, at least in part, on its memory of the sentencing hearing.

The Idaho Supreme Court has made it clear that "[a] judge may take judicial notice of personal recollection of prior proceedings to the extent that the judge recalls what occurred. However, the previous hearing must be transcribed so that any alleged error in such judicial notice is subject to appellate review." *Navarro v. Yonkers*, 144 Idaho 882, 887 (2007). If no such record exists to allow that appellate review, the district court cannot take judicial notice of its memory. *Navarro*, 142 Idaho 887; *Matthews v. State*, 122 Idaho 801, 807 (1992); *Roman v. State*, 125 Idaho 644, 648 (Ct. App. 1994). The district court's conclusion in this case – that it had not been asked to take, and so, had not taken, judicial notice of documents from the underlying criminal case – reveals there is no record in the post-conviction record for this Court

to review.³ *Roman v. State*, 125 Idaho 644, 648 (Ct. App. 1994) ("No part of the record from the criminal case becomes part of the record in the post-conviction proceeding unless it is entered as an exhibit."). Therefore, the district court in this case erred by taking judicial notice of its memory.

The effects of this problem are not necessarily limited to just those claims where there is no evidence properly in the record to support the district court's claims. On other claims, such as the claim regarding counsel's failure to request a lesser-included instruction which is discussed in Section II, is it is unclear if there is other evidence that the district court was considering which could affect the appellate court's review of that issue. For example, post-conviction counsel argued that the accessory instruction was appropriate under the pleading theory. (Tr., p.59, Ls.3-7.) The pleading theory looks at the way in which the offense was charged in the charging document. *See State v. Sepulveda*, 161 Idaho 79, 87 (2016). However, due to the district court's error in regard to the request for judicial notice, it is unclear whether the charging document was properly before the district court. As such, it may be prudent to remand this case to the district court, at least for clarification of the record, and to the extent necessary, reconsideration of the decisions with a proper understanding of what evidence was or should be before the court.

As such, this Court should vacate the decision denying Mr. Rome's petition and remand this case so that the district court can actually rule on Mr. Rome's motion for judicial notice and

³ To the extent the district court may have impliedly taken judicial notice of the documents proffered by post-conviction counsel (*see* R., p.49), the district court still erred by not identifying with specificity which documents on which it was relying. *See*, *e.g.*, *Taylor v. McNichols*, 149 Idaho 826, 835-36 (2010); *Fortin v. State*, 160 Idaho 437, 442-43 (Ct. App. 2016); I.R.E. 201(c)-(d) (requiring that "the court shall identify the specific documents that were so noticed").

evaluate his claims in light of the evidence that should have been properly before it under I.R.E. 201.

II.

The District Court's Decision To Deny Mr. Rome's Lesser-Included Instruction Claim Fails To
Apply The Proper Standards For Evaluating A Claim Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel At
An Evidentiary Hearing

A. Standard Of Review

When raising an issue of ineffective assistance of counsel in post-conviction proceedings, a petitioner is required to prove that his attorney's performance was objectively unreasonable and prejudicial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). In order to show prejudice, the petitioner need only show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694.

At an evidentiary hearing, a post-conviction petitioner must prove his claims by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Yakovac*, 145 Idaho 437, 443 (2008); *see* I.C. § 19-4907. A preponderance of the evidence only requires a showing that the claim is more probably true than not. *Oxley v. Medicine Rock Specialties, Inc.*, 139 Idaho 476, 481 (2003); *Ada County Prosecuting Attorney v. DeMint*, 161 Idaho 342, 344 (Ct. App. 2016). This standard is akin to the "sufficiency of the evidence" standard, which is less onerous than even a "clear and convincing evidence" standard. *Ellibee v. Ellibee*, 121 Idaho 501, 505 (1992); *Umphrey v. Sprinkel*, 106 Idaho 700, 706 (1983).

When reviewing mixed questions of law and fact under these standards, the appellate court defers to the district court's factual findings which are supported by substantial evidence,

but it freely reviews the application of the relevant law to those facts. *McKinney v. State*, 133 Idaho 695, 700 (1999); I.R.C.P. 52(a).

B. <u>Trial Counsel's Uncontradicted Testimony Established That A Reasonable Basis Existed Upon Which He Could Have Requested An Accessory Instruction, And Thus, That The District Court Would Have Been Statutorily-Obligated To Give That Instruction, By A Preponderance Of Evidence</u>

The district court's first reason for denying the lesser-included instruction claim was that there was no evidence or legal basis for giving an accessory instruction. (R., p.102.) That conclusion is erroneous for several reasons.

First, it ignores trial counsel's uncontradicted testimony. At the evidentiary hearing in this case, trial counsel expressly testified that, given the way the evidence developed at trial, there was a reasonable ground upon which he could have requested an accessory instruction. (Tr., p.21, Ls.21-23.) Because this testimony existed, the first part of the district court's conclusion – that there was no evidence supporting this claim (R., p.102) – is clearly erroneous. *See Lovitt*, 139 Idaho at 325.

That uncontested testimony is also sufficient, by itself, to satisfy the preponderance burden of proof. *Seubert Excavators, Inc. v. Eucon Corp.*, 125 Idaho 409, 417 (1994) (holding that the uncontradcited testimony of a reliable witness constituted a preponderance of the evidence sufficient to merit relief on a claim of loss, and holding the district court's decision to deny that claim clearly erroneous). And, as this Court recently reaffirmed, a court cannot arbitrarily reject uncontradicted testimony. *Manwaring Investments, L.C. v. City of Blackfoot*, 162 Idaho 763, ____, 405 P.3d 22, 30 (2017). There was no indication or finding that trial counsel was not credible in his testimony. (*See generally* Tr., R.) Thus, ignoring his testimony was arbitrary. *See Seubert Excavators*, 125 Idaho at 417. Since trial counsel's uncontradicted

testimony was the only evidence clearly before the district court at the evidentiary hearing on this issue, and that testimony supports Mr. Rome's claim, he met his burden to prove that it was more probably true than not that there was a basis to request the accessory instruction.

Furthermore, the district court is statutorily-obligated to instruct the jury on a lesserincluded offense if: (1) a party requests such an instruction, and (2) a reasonable view of the evidence presented would support a finding of guilt on the lesser, but not the greater offense. I.C. § 19-2132(b). An offense is an included offense under Idaho's pleading theory when it is charged as a means or element of the commission of the charged offense. State v. Sepulveda, 161 Idaho 79, 87 (2016). Being an accessory after the fact is one means by which a person can aid and abet a principal, and thus, commit the overarching offense. See State v. Hauser, 143 Idaho 603, 613-14 (Ct. App. 2006) ("The test of an accessory after the fact is that he renders his principal some personal help to elude punishment—the kind of help being unimportant.") (punctuation altered); I.C. § 19-1430 (defining principal and accessory as two ways in which a person can commit the overarching offense). As such, accessory is an included offense with aiding and abetting under the pleading theory. Therefore, given trial counsel's unrefuted testimony at the evidentiary hearing – that there was a reasonable view of the evidence which supported the accessory instruction – it is more probably true than not that, had trial counsel requested an accessory instruction, the district court would have given it pursuant to I.C. § 19-2132(b).

As a result, the district court's first reason for granting the motion for directed verdict on the lesser-included instruction claim is clearly erroneous, as it is disproved by the record. Under the proper standard, Mr. Rome proved by a preponderance of the evidence that there was a reasonable basis for trial counsel to have requested the accessory instruction and that it would have been given had it been requested.

C. <u>The District Court's Prejudice Analysis Is Directly Contrary To United States Supreme</u> Court Precedent

1. <u>The United States Supreme Court Has Expressly Recognized That A Reasonable Probability Of Prejudice Exists When An Appropriate Lesser-Included Instruction</u>
Is Not Given

The district court's second reason for denying the lesser-included instruction claim was that Mr. Rome had failed to prove prejudice because the jury had convicted him on the greater aiding and abetting charge. (R., pp.102-03.) That analysis is in direct conflict with the test for prejudice set forth in *Strickland*. Essentially, the district court was, as its own words reveal, considering whether "even if the trial counsel had successfully obtained a jury instruction on Accessory, the outcome *would not have been* different" (R., pp.102-03 (emphasis added).) *Strickland*'s standard is lower, as it only requires the district court to determine whether there is "a reasonable probability that . . . the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694 (emphasis added). Essentially, the district court demanded surety of a different outcome, when *Strickland* only requires a petitioner to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id*.

Under the proper standard, the district court's conclusion is plainly wrong because, forty years ago, the United States Supreme Court expressly recognized that *there is* a reasonable probability that the jury may render a different verdict if they had been given the absent lesser-included instruction: "We cannot say that the availability of a third option—convicting the defendant of [the lesser included offense]—could not have resulted in a different verdict."

Keeble v. United States, 412 U.S. 205, 213 (1973); accord State v. Curtis, 130 Idaho 525, 528-29 (Ct. App. 1996) (Lansing, J., dissenting).

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