# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-5-2018

# Rome v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45140

ISSUES
ARGUMENT4
Rome Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred By Granting A Directed Verdict On The Basis Of Failure To Support The Claims With Evidence4
A. Introduction4
B. Standard Of Review4
C. The Record Shows There Is No Substantial Evidence To Support The Claim That Counsel Was Ineffective For Not Raising A Claim Of Cumulative Error On Appeal
D. The Record Shows There Is No Substantial Evidence To Support The Claim That Counsel Was Ineffective For Not Requesting An Aiding And Abetting Instruction7
CONCLUSION10
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE10

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>CASES</u> <u>PAGE</u>
<u>Dunlap v. State</u> , 141 Idaho 50, 106 P.3d 376 (2004)5
<u>Dunlap v. State</u> , 159 Idaho 280, 360 P.3d 289 (2015)
Enriquez v. Idaho Power Co., 152 Idaho 562, 272 P.3d 534 (2012)
<u>Gunter v. Murphy's Lounge, LLC</u> , 141 Idaho 16, 105 P.3d 676 (2005)
<u>Harrington v. Richter</u> , 562 U.S. 86 (2011)
Powers v. Am. Honda Motor Co., 139 Idaho 333, 79 P.3d 154 (2003)
<u>State v. Charboneau</u> , 116 Idaho 129, 774 P.2d 299 (1989)5
<u>State v. Draper</u> , 151 Idaho 576, 261 P.3d 853 (2011) 6
State v. Hawkins, 131 Idaho 396, 958 P.2d 22 (Ct. App. 1998) 6
State v. Rome, Idaho Supreme Court Docket No. 432137
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 668 (1984)5
Waterman v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 146 Idaho 667, 201 P.3d 640 (2009) 4
<u>Wurdemann v. State</u> , 161 Idaho 713, 390 P.3d 439 (2017)

# **STATUTES**

I.C. § 18-204
---------------

# **OTHER AUTHORITIES**

CJI 3117
----------

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature Of The Case

Sonny Rome appeals from the denial of his petition for post-conviction relief.

#### Statement Of The Facts And Course Of The Proceedings

Rome filed a petition for post-conviction relief from his conviction for burglary. (R., pp. 5-11, 25-37.) Two counts relevant to this appeal were that trial counsel was ineffective for not seeking an aiding and abetting jury instruction (Count VI) and appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise a claim of cumulative error (Count X). (R., pp. 31-32, 34-35.)

At the evidentiary hearing on the petition Rome called Jay Logsdon, who had represented Rome both in the trial and the appeal of the criminal case. (Tr., p. 9, L. 16 – p. 10, L. 5; p. 23, Ls. 8-10.) Logsdon testified that, "in hindsight" he could have presented a theory that Rome was an accessory after the fact but that he did not present that theory or request jury instructions on that theory. (Tr., p. 21, L. 17 – p. 22, L. 3.) Logsdon was not asked about raising a cumulative error theory on appeal. (Tr., p. 61, Ls. 2-20.)

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing the district court granted a directed verdict denying Rome post-conviction relief. (R., pp. 102-03; Tr., p. 64, L. 5 – p. 79, L. 3.) The district court found the evidence insufficient as to Count VI, failure to seek an aiding and abetting instruction, because there was no evidence of deficient performance or prejudice. (R., pp. 102-03; Tr., p. 58, L. 20 – p. 60, L. 16.) The district court found the evidence insufficient as to Count X, failure to raise a claim of cumulative error, because "there is no evidence in this record that appellate counsel failed to raise the issue of cumulative error." (Tr., p. 75, L. 15 – p. 76, L. 3.)

Rome filed a timely appeal from the entry of judgment. (R., pp. 105, 109-11, 121, 123-27.)

#### **ISSUES**

Rome states the issues on appeal as:

- I. Whether the district court erred by not taking judicial notice of the documents in the underlying criminal case record as requested by Mr. Rome based on its clearly erroneous determination that he had not requested it to take judicial notice.
- II. Whether the district court's decision to deny Mr. Rome's lesserincluded instruction claim fails to apply the proper standards for evaluating a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at an evidentiary hearing.

(Appellant's brief, p. 5.)

The state rephrases the issue as:

Has Rome failed to show error in the district court's grant of a directed verdict on the basis of failure to support the claims with evidence?

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# Rome Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred By Granting A Directed Verdict On The Basis Of Failure To Support The Claims With Evidence

### A. <u>Introduction</u>

The district court granted the state's motion for directed verdict on Counts VI and X for failing to support those claims with evidence. (R., pp. 102-03; Tr., p. 58, L. 20 - p. 60, L. 16; p. 75, L. 15 - p. 76, L. 3.) Rome contends that the district court erred by granting a directed verdict on Count X on the basis of lack of evidence because he asked the court to take judicial notice of evidence that would have supported that claim. (Appellant's brief, pp. 6-9.) He contends the district court applied an erroneous legal standard when it directed a verdict on Count VI. (Appellant's brief, pp. 9-20.) Rome does not, however, apply the legal standards relevant to review of the granting of a motion for a directed verdict. Application of the relevant and correct legal standards to the record shows Rome's claims of error to be without merit.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

"When reviewing a decision to grant or deny a motion for a directed verdict, this Court applies the same standard the trial court applied when originally ruling on the motion." <u>Enriquez v. Idaho Power Co.</u>, 152 Idaho 562, 565, 272 P.3d 534, 537 (2012). "In doing so, this Court exercises free review and does not defer to the findings of the trial court." <u>Powers v. Am. Honda Motor Co.</u>, 139 Idaho 333, 335, 79 P.3d 154, 156 (2003). "This Court must determine whether, admitting the truth of the adverse evidence and drawing every legitimate inference most favorably to the opposing party, there exists substantial evidence to justify submitting the case to the jury." <u>Waterman v. Nationwide</u> <u>Mut. Ins. Co.</u>, 146 Idaho 667, 672, 201 P.3d 640, 645 (2009). "The 'substantial evidence' test does not require the evidence be uncontradicted. It requires only that the evidence be of sufficient quantity and probative value that reasonable minds could conclude that a verdict in favor of the party against whom the motion is made is proper." <u>Gunter v.</u> <u>Murphy's Lounge, LLC</u>, 141 Idaho 16, 27, 105 P.3d 676, 687 (2005) (internal quotations omitted).

# C. <u>The Record Shows There Is No Substantial Evidence To Support The Claim That</u> <u>Counsel Was Ineffective For Not Raising A Claim Of Cumulative Error On Appeal</u>

In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a post-conviction petitioner must prove both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. <u>Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); <u>State v. Charboneau</u>, 116 Idaho 129, 137, 774 P.2d 299, 307 (1989). To show deficient performance a petitioner "must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." <u>Harrington v. Richter</u>, 562 U.S. 86, 104 (2011). The court "must apply a strong presumption" that counsel's performance was not deficient. <u>Id.</u> To overcome this presumption the petitioner must "show that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." <u>Id.</u>

Strategic decisions by counsel will not be second-guessed "unless those decisions are based on inadequate preparation, ignorance of relevant law, or other shortcomings capable of objective evaluation." <u>Dunlap v. State</u>, 141 Idaho 50, 60, 106 P.3d 376, 386 (2004) (citation omitted). Where the claim is that counsel's performance was deficient for failing to file a motion, the court employs a two-step process of first determining "whether or not the motion should have been granted," and second, if the motion would have been

granted, "the petitioner is still required to overcome the presumption that the decision not to file the motion was within the wide range of permissible discretion and trial *strategy*." <u>Wurdemann v. State</u>, 161 Idaho 713, 718, 390 P.3d 439, 444 (2017) (emphasis original, internal citations and quotations omitted).

"[W]e use the same test to evaluate ineffective assistance of appellate counsel on direct appeal as we use to evaluate ineffective assistance of trial counsel." <u>Dunlap v. State</u>, 159 Idaho 280, 296, 360 P.3d 289, 305 (2015).

In this case there was no evidence that, when making the tactical decision of what issues to raise on appeal, counsel was ignorant of the law or the record, was inadequately prepared, or had any other objective shortcoming. To the contrary, the record shows Mr. Logsdon was asked no questions about not raising a claim of cumulative error on appeal. (<u>E.g.</u> Tr., p. 61, Ls. 2-20.) There is no evidence in this record that counsel's performance was deficient for failure to claim cumulative error.

Nor was there any evidence presented that Rome could have prevailed on an appellate claim of cumulative error. "The cumulative error doctrine requires reversal of a conviction when there is an accumulation of irregularities, each of which by itself might be harmless, but when aggregated, the errors show the absence of a fair trial, in contravention of the defendant's constitutional right to due process." <u>State v. Draper</u>, 151 Idaho 576, 594, 261 P.3d 853, 871 (2011) (citations, quotations and alteration omitted). A necessary predicate to application of the cumulative error doctrine is a finding of more than one error. <u>State v. Hawkins</u>, 131 Idaho 396, 958 P.2d 22 (Ct. App. 1998). Rome presented no evidence that the court in his appeal found two errors, but that the errors were

individually harmless. Without evidence of two harmless errors to cumulate, there was no evidence of deficient performance or prejudice.

On appeal Rome contends the district court should have taken judicial notice of the evidence that would have supported his claim. (Appellant's brief, pp. 6-9.) He points out that he asked for judicial notice of certain exhibits in response to the state's motion for summary dismissal (Appellant's brief, p. 6 (citing R., pp. 49-50, 80)), and included items he intended to admit by judicial notice at the hearing in his lists of witnesses and exhibits (Appellant's brief, p. 6 (citing R., pp. 85, 88)).<sup>1</sup> Rome's claim that he presented sufficient evidence to avoid a directed verdict by requesting judicial notice at a prior summary dismissal hearing and mentioning potential exhibits in pre-hearing notices is specious. He has pointed to nothing in the record suggesting he presented substantial evidence supporting his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for not asserting cumulative error on appeal.

# D. <u>The Record Shows There Is No Substantial Evidence To Support The Claim That</u> <u>Counsel Was Ineffective For Not Requesting An Aiding And Abetting Instruction</u>

Rome alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for not seeking a "proper" aiding and abetting jury instruction (Count VI). (R., pp. 31-32.) In Idaho an aider and abettor is a principal. I.C. § 18-204. The "proper" jury instruction on aiding and abetting is ICJI 311 (the "law makes no distinction" between principals and aider and abettors). Rome

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although there is no legal basis for this Court doing so, the state does not object to this Court's consideration of the appellate record from the criminal case, <u>State v. Rome</u>, Docket No. 43213. It shows that the Idaho Court of Appeals found no error, much less two errors that were harmless individually. The claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failing to claim cumulative error is frivolous and without a good faith basis in fact.

presented no evidence of what aiding and abetting instruction was given at trial or how it was deficient performance or prejudicial to not request a "proper" one.

On appeal Rome contends there was sufficient evidence to support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to seek a jury instruction for accessory after the fact. (Appellant's brief, pp. 9-20.) This argument fails because Rome has failed to show that he raised such a claim in his petition. Even if he had presented evidence of an unpled claim, such would not show error in granting a directed verdict against him on an unpled claim.

Even if Rome had made a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to request a jury instruction on accessory after the fact, he presented no substantial evidence to support such a claim. He did present the testimony of Mr. Logsdon that, "in hindsight," he believed he could have argued the theory of accessory after the fact, but that he did not do so. (Tr., p. 21, L. 17 – p. 22, L. 3.) This is not substantial evidence that counsel's decision to not pursue an accessory after the fact theory at trial was the result of an objective shortcoming or that Rome was prejudiced.

On appeal Rome argues that trial counsel's "uncontradicted testimony" was sufficient to meet a burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence. (Appellant's brief, pp. 10-11.) While it is true that Mr. Logsdon's testimony is sufficient to establish the facts he testified to, merely establishing that (a) trial counsel believes in hindsight that he would have been able to argue for the giving of such an instruction and (b) that he did not do so does not come close to establishing a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Rome next argues that a district court is statutorily obligated to present a jury instruction when both requested and supported by evidence. (Appellant's brief, p. 11.)

First, Mr. Logsdon's *opinion* that the evidence supported the giving of an instruction is not proof that such an instruction would have been given if requested. More importantly, however, this argument bears little if any relevance to the question of whether counsel was ineffective for not requesting the instruction. It certainly shows no objective shortcoming of counsel, and even if the court would have given the instruction there is no evidence that the jury would have acquitted on the greater charge if only the accessory instruction had been given.

Rome finally argues that the district court's reasoning, that the fact of conviction on the greater offense in combination with the "acquittal first" instruction, is not a legally valid basis for rejecting his claim of prejudice from lack of an accessory after the fact instruction. (Appellant's brief, pp. 12-20.) This argument is irrelevant insofar as it invites this Court to review whether the district court employed the correct legal standard. <u>Powers</u>, 139 Idaho at 335, 79 P.3d at 156 ("this Court exercises free review and does not defer to the findings of the trial court"). It is also irrelevant insofar as there is no evidence of deficient performance or prejudice. Regardless of whether the "acquittal first" doctrine is determinative, there is no evidence of prejudice under any theory.

Rome's theories of error are all predicated on an incorrect articulation of the standard of review. Because this Court reviews the directed verdict motion de novo and without deference, Rome's arguments that the district court employed incorrect legal standards, even if true, are irrelevant. Application of the correct legal standards to the record in this case show no error because Rome failed to support his claims with substantial evidence.

### **CONCLUSION**

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.